FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/18/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 101994-7

NO. 82213-6-I

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
5/17/2023 1:38 PM

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

TANESSA DESRANLEAU, individually and as the Personal Representative of the ESTATE of JAY'BREON DESRANLEAU;

Plaintiff-Respondents,

v.

HYLAND'S, INC., STANDARD HOMEPATHIC LABORATORIES, INC., and STANDARD HOMEPATHIC COMPANY, and MICHELLE REID, Defendants-Petitioner.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Rodney L. Umberger, WSBA #24948 Ryan Vollans, WSBA # 45302 Williams Kastner, PLLC 601 Union Street, Suite 4100 Seattle, WA 98101-2380

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioners are Hyland's Inc., Standard Homeopathic Laboratories Inc., and Standard Homeopathic Company,
Respondents in the Court of Appeals, and Defendants in King
County Superior Court. Petitioners are referred to collectively hereafter as "Hyland's."

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

Hyland's seeks review of the Division One published opinion *Desranleau v. Hyland's, Inc.*, 527 P.3d 1160 (April 17, 2023). **Appendix A** (Slip Opinion).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. The decision contradicts Supreme Court precedent on ER 702 when it reversed the trial court and held that whether an expert has an adequate foundation is a question for the jury to resolve.
- 2. The decision contradicts Supreme Court precedent when it reversed the trial court and held that "borderline" cases of admissibility of expert opinions "should be decided in favor

of admissibility, allowing the jury to decide for itself whether the opinion is reliable."

- 3. The decision contradicts Supreme Court precedent when it reversed the trial court and held that foundational requirements can be excused if there is a "plausible" reason for the lack of foundational information.
- 4. The decision contradicts Supreme Court precedent when it reversed the trial court and determined that *Frye* is not implicated so long as a single, inconsequential aspect of a theory has previously been generally accepted.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Background.

Jay'Breon Desranleau¹ sadly passed when he was just thirteen (13) months old. When Jay'Breon was found unresponsive, he was face-down in a crib with his head covered by blankets. CP 50. The law enforcement's investigative file states that Jay'Breon had been sick for a couple days leading up

¹ For clarity's sake, Jay'Breon will be referred to by his first name. No disrespect is intended.

to his death. CP 50 (*Id.* at Hylands 0000017). It also indicates that Jay'Breon had been given "Highlands Tablets," along with other over the counter medications or treatments, including Tylenol. CP 59 (*Id.* at Hylands 0000026).

The autopsy of Jay'Breon was performed by Chief King County Medical Examiner Dr. Richard Harruff. CP 273-279 (Ex. 4 to Dr. Wigren's Decl.: Autopsy Report). Dr. Harruff concluded that there was no anatomic cause of death, the death was not explained by postmortem examination, and the death was classified as undetermined. CP 273. The toxicology screen performed on Jay'Breon was also unremarkable. CP 280-281 (Toxicology Report).

2. Lawsuit and Claims.

After Jay'Breon's passing, this lawsuit was filed and it was alleged that Hyland's Baby Tiny Cold Tablets ("Hyland's Tablets"), a children's homeopathic cold remedy, caused Jay'Breon's death. CP 38-46. Specifically, Plaintiff alleges that Jay'Breon's death was caused by Gelsemium Sempervirens

("GS"), an herbal ingredient listed in Hyland's Tablets. *Id.* at ¶ 6-7. Dr. Marvin Pietruszka, MD, was retained as Plaintiff's medical causation expert. Dr. Pietruszka opined that GS from Hyland's Tablets caused Jay'Breon's death. Dr. Pietruszka theorized that GS is lethal in any amount, including undetectable "nano-particles."

3. Dr. Pietruszka Testimony.

a. Dr. Pietruszka Knows Nothing About GS and Performed No Toxicological Analysis In This Case.

During his deposition, Dr. Pietruszka acknowledged that the effects of GS are dose responsive, but he could not say how much of the drug was actually absorbed by Jay'Breon, if any. CP 121-122 (at 33:2-8; 36:22-23: "[w]e don't know"). And though he insisted that a "small quantity" would have been enough to do harm (CP 122 at 37:8-10), he had to concede that he had not performed any calculations based on the ingredients at issue in this case, (CP 122 at 37:11-14), and he does not "have any knowledge of any specific dose" of GS that

Jay'Breon might have been exposed to. CP 128-129 (at 64:24-65:1). Dr. Pietruszka could not identify the level at which GS generally becomes lethal, not even ranges. *Id*.

Dr. Pietruszka did not perform any calculations or analysis based on any findings or doses in this case, nor does he rely on any prior studies evaluating a dose responsive relationship (not specifically for GS, and not for any other substances that he could potentially analogize to). Dr. Pietruszka did not evaluate Jay'Breon's probable metabolism, weight, or the amount of GS potentially ingested (which, again, he was speculating about). CP 143 (at 122:13-18). Yet, Dr. Pietruszka conceded that he understood that the effects of GS really "depends," citing variables such as its toxicity, the size of the person exposed, and the concentration of GS ingested (*i.e.*, dose). *Id.*

Equally important, Dr. Pietruszka did not have any specific information or data with respect to the level of GS in Hyland's products generally, (CP 135 at 91:13-17), because,

according to him, this information is "meaningless." CP 135 at 92:5-11. This despite conceding that the effects of GS "depends" on dose. Dr. Pietruszka confirmed that: (1) he had no belief, understanding, or assumption in terms of whether a process known as "stratification" was occurring at Hyland's, including the probability of occurrence; (2) he had not reviewed or obtained any data regarding the process at Hyland's; and (3) he has no idea, if the process is occurring, whether it is resulting in *less* than intended ingredients as opposed to more. CP 134-135, 142 (at 87:5 - 91:17, 119:3-13).

b. Dr. Pietruszka Admits No Evidence of Toxic Encephalopathy.

Dr. Pietruszka opined that Jay'Breon death was specifically caused by toxic encephalopathy² as a result of GS poisoning, which he apparently believed was reflected by the autopsy finding of "mild cerebral edema." Notably, Dr. Pietruszka admits there is no evidence of toxic encephalopathy,

² Brain damage caused by a toxic exposure.

and he admitted that mild cerebral edema can have a number of causes, including viral infections (for which Jay'Breon apparently had), as well as the very act of dying in and of itself. CP 123 (at 41:6-7, 44:6-8; CP 133 at 83:4-14). But more significantly, when trying to explain away other known causes of edema (such as the aforementioned), Dr. Pietruszka ended up confirming that there was no evidence of encephalopathy (toxic encephalopathy or otherwise). CP 123 at 44:2-12.

c. Dr. Pietruszka Forced To Create And Rely on A Novel Theory Lacking Foundation and Lacking Acceptance in Field of Toxicology.

In light of the fact Dr. Pietruszka did not have any information regarding GS's toxic properties (including its dose-responsive relationship), the levels at which it becomes lethal, or the alleged dose Jay'Breon received, Dr. Pietruszka was required to advance a baseless and novel theory. Dr. Pietruszka declared that GS is actually lethal at the undetectable "nanoparticle level," meaning inhalation of a single, an

undetectable molecule of the substance can purportedly be lethal. CP 125 (at 51:2-8).

Because of this, according to Dr. Pietruszka, he did not need any more information for his analysis in this case regarding GS, including the concentration of any such dose, Jay'Breon's potential dose, or any information regarding the dose-responsive relationship for GS. Instead, because GS is lethal in undetectable nanoparticles, according to Dr. Pietruszka, he can state on a more probable than not basis that GS caused Jay'Breon's death absent any additional information beyond understanding that GS is listed as an ingredient in Hyland's Tablets and that it "can be toxic." Dr. Pietruszka was unable to cite a single publication or study that substantiates his personal theory regarding lethality in undetectable nanoparticles, and he could not identify any other substance in the entire world — that was "lethal in the nanoparticles." CP 131 (at 74:17-25).

4. <u>Trial Court Excludes Dr. Pietruszka and Grants Summary Judgment.</u>

Hyland's moved to exclude Dr. Pietruszka under ER 702 and *Frye v. United States*, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923), and moved for summary judgment based on the lack of admissible causation evidence. Following argument, the trial court granted each of Hyland's motions (RP 40-42) and signed separate orders for each motion (CP 861-864: Order Excluding Dr. Pietruszka; CP 865-868: Order Granting Summary Judgment).

In support of its order excluding Dr. Pietruszka, the trial court found that the only evidence in the record is that, to the extent GS is present in Hyland's Tablets once in finished form, it is undisputed that it is present in undetectable levels, and there is no scientific basis to support a theory that undetectable levels of GS are capable of being lethal. RP 42-45. The trial court further explained its rulings:

Having carefully studied the briefing, the declarations, and now listened carefully to the oral arguments here, I am convinced that Dr. Pietruszka's testimony is based on -- not on science

but on supposition and speculation. His testimony that Gelsemium is toxic at any level -- even nanoparticles -- is not supported by any medical or scientific literature that he can cite to. On the other hand, defendant's expert have established that even highly toxic substances like strychnine are -- have a dose-response threshold. There is no scientific basis to support the theory here that, even at undetectable levels, GS could be lethal. And so there -- there is no basis under *Frye* for the novel -- the theory expressed by Dr. Pietruszka. He -- he's not able to cite to any other expert or any published, peerreviewed study or even -- even a comparable compound that would support his theory here. And so the Court is compelled to exclude his testimony both under Frye and because it lacks foundation under ER 702.

RP 41.

5. Reversal in *Desranleau v. Hyland's, Inc.*, 527 P.3d 1160, issued on April 17, 2023.

On April 17, 2023, the court of appeals reversed the trial court's order excluding Dr. Pietruszka under ER 702 and under *Frye*. The court of appeals also reversed the trial court's order granting summary judgment. *Desranleau*, 572 P.3d 1160, is a 30-page published opinion that extinguishes the trial court's gate-keeping function under ER 702 and broadly calls for the admission of expert testimony whenever its admissibility

appears to be "borderline" and based on the expert's own sayso. *Desranleau*, Slip Opinion at 26. Under *Frye*, *Desranleau* stretches prior precedent to the point where the standard will seldom, if ever, be implicated in Washington.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

RAP 13.4(b) provides that a petition for review will be granted by the Washington Supreme Court:

- If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Multiple grounds exist for discretionary review in this case, and Hyland's submits that review should be accepted pursuant to its arguments below.

1. <u>Desranleau Conflicts With Precedent and Extinguishes</u> the Trial Court's Gatekeeping Function under ER 702.

In *Johnston-Forbes v. Matsunaga*, this Court confirmed "[b]efore allowing an expert to render an opinion, the trial court must find that there is an adequate foundation so that an opinion is not mere speculation, conjecture, or misleading. It is the proper function of the trial court to scrutinize the expert's underlying information and determine whether it is sufficient to form an opinion on the relevant issue." *Johnston-Forbes*, 181 Wn.2d 346, 357, 333 P.3d 388 (2014).

In reversing the trial court, *Desranleau* stated that "borderline" cases of admissibility "should be decided in favor of admissibility, allowing the jury to decide whether the opinion is reliable." *Desranleau*, Slip Opinion at 26. The "borderline" admissibility presumption set forth in *Desranleau* contradicts the standard articulated by this Court in *Johnston-Forbes*. *Johnston-Forbes* required the trial court to find an adequate foundation (not "borderline" foundation) prior to admitting expert testimony. In light of *Desranleau*, if it cannot

be determined if an adequate foundation exists, it is a "borderline case," and the testimony should be admitted for a jury to consider.

In addition to extinguishing the threshold finding that must be made prior to admitting expert testimony as set forth in *Johnston-Forbes*, *Desranleau* generally guts the trial court's gate keeping function altogether. There is not a single reference to trial court's "gatekeeping" function within the 30-page published decision of *Desranleau*, nor is there a mention of *Johnston-Forbes*. *See generally*, *Desranleau*, 527 P.3d 1160. Rather, *Desranleau* places the gatekeeping function in the hands of the jury. *See Desranleau*, Slip Opinion at 26.

Desranleau reasoned that Dr. Pietruszka's own unsubstantiated *ipse dixit* could serve as his foundation, contrary to the trial court's obligation under ER 702 as set forth in *Johnston-Forbes*. For example, Dr. Pietruszka analogized GS and its manifestation to Covid-19 (like Covid infections that "gets into the nose" and "causes brain symptoms, and it affects

the nervous system"); he claimed that GS is fat soluble and stored in the body for given periods of time (time periods unknown) allowing larger doses (information regarding dose or "larger" dose unknown) to build up over time; he claimed that GS can pass through the mouth "right to the brain", and that GS contained "strychnine-type chemicals" (without providing any analysis regarding how GS compares to strychnine or even at what levels strychnine becomes toxic). See Desranleau, Slip Opinion at 5-9. Desranleau cites to Dr. Pietruszka's own ipse dixit as the foundation for Dr. Pietruszka's unsupported beliefs regarding GS. *Id.* Foundation challenges are not concerned with what an expert is willing to say; the inquiry is on whether there is any support for what an expert is willing to say. See Fed. R. Evid. 702 advisory committee's note to 2000 amendments ("The trial court's gatekeeping function requires more than simply 'taking the expert's word for it.").³

³ The court of appeals also confirmed that it did not consider any of the 400+ pages of articles and internet printouts submitted by Dr. Pietruszka on Reconsideration of the trial court orders excluding Dr. Pietruszka and granting summary judgment. *Desranleau*, Slip

Here, *Desranleau* acknowledged that no information about the particular dose or dose responsive relationship of GS exists to support Dr. Pietruszka's opinions, but it excused the lack of any such information (foundation) because Dr. Pietruszka had a "plausible reason⁴" why he does not have any such information. *Desranleau*, Slip Opinion at 23. Accordingly, the *Desranleau* recognized the lack of any supporting information for Dr. Pietruszka's claims regarding GS, but it deemed the lack of a foundation excusable. Desranleau reasoned that an expert's failure to rely on underlying information, or misapplying underlying information, in support of an opinion is only problematic if such underlying **information exists**. *Id.* at 23 – 25 (citing *Miller v. Likins*, 109 Wn. App. 140, 34 P.3d 835 (2001); Coogan v. Borg-Warner Morse Tec Inc., 197 Wn.2d 790, 490 P.3d 200 (2021)). To be clear, neither *Miller* nor *Coogan* stand for the proposition that

Opinion at 11, fn 7. Accordingly, it is unclear what studies, if any at all, the court of appeals scrutinized when reversing the trial court.

⁴ The plausible reason accepted by *Desranleau* for the lack of foundation regarding GS is because it is a "toxic substance." *Desranleau*, Slip Opinion at 23.

an expert is excused from having a foundation for an opinion consistent with ER 702.

Similarly, *Reese v. Stroh*, 128 Wn.2d 300, 907 P.2d 282 (1995)⁵, has no application to *Desranleau*. *Reese* merely stated that the expert's opinions did not have to be based on "statistically significant studies proving efficacy." *Id.* at 310. To be sure, the expert in *Reese* did rely on extensive studies, as well as FDA approval of the product, and extensive time spent studying the subject medical condition (approximately 30 years). The analysis in *Reese* is narrow to its facts, which are inapposite to the facts of *Desranleau*.

Desranleau supports a broad sea change to this State's jurisprudence on ER 702. It advances a presumption of admissibility in "borderline" cases. It suggests that when a foundation does not exist because of "plausible" explanations, then foundational requirements are either eliminated or relaxed.

⁵ The court of appeals also cites to *Reese* for its discussion of *Frye*. As *Reese* makes clear, however, *Frye* was not raised by the challenging party and was, accordingly, not at issue in the case. *Reese*, 128 Wn.2d at 307.

Then, whatever questions remain as to whether an expert has a proper foundation, or whether an expert employed a methodology in an improper or unscientific manner, go only to weight, not admissibility. Based on the analytical framework advanced by *Desranleau*, it is difficult to conceive of expert testimony that can now be kept from a jury.

2. <u>Desranleau Confuses The "Theory" at Issue Under Frye.</u>

Desranleau framed the "issue" or "theory" that needed to be generally accepted under *Frye* as whether or not GS can become toxic or "is a toxin," but this generalization misses the mark and is not the necessary premise to Dr. Pietruszka's opinions.⁶ Yet, relying on this generalized premise, the court of appeals analogized to *Anderson v. Akzo Nobel Coatings, Inc.*, 172 Wn.2d 593, 260 P.3d 857(2011).⁷ Desranleau posited that

⁶ In terms of generally accepted methodologies or theories, *Desranleau* observes that Dr. Pietruszka also performed a differential diagnosis and considered the "Bradford Hill" criteria. *Desranleau*, Slip Opinion at 17. Regardless of how Dr. Pietruszka's opinions are packaged or whatever else he claims to have done, his causation opinion necessarily depends on his "lethality in unmeasurable nanoparticles" theory, which extinguishes his need for any specific toxicological information.

⁷ Desranleau's reliance on Akzo is unhelpful. As with the expert in Reese, the expert in Akzo had an extensive study involving 250 women to rely on that demonstrated the relationship between exposure to organic solvents and birth defects. Akzo recognized that Frye was not implicated simply because the study relied upon did not evaluate the exact

because it is generally accepted that GS is a toxic, there did not need to be general acceptance of Dr. Pietruszka's theory that GS is lethal in any amount (even in amounts that cannot be detected), which is the theory relied upon to support his case specific conclusions. Dr. Pietruszka's underlying theory that GS is lethal in undetectable nanoparticles is not generally accepted. Dr. Pietruszka admits as much, confirming that he is unaware of any substances in the world that are generally known to be lethal in undetectable nanoparticles.

Notably, this kind of over-generalization under *Frye* has been squarely rejected by our courts. *See Lake Chelan Shores Homeowners Ass'n v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co.*, 176 Wn.

App. 168, 313 P.3d 408 (2013). In *Lake Chelan*, the plaintiff offered experts to opine that wood rot occurred or began to occur on a particular date or during a date range, and they did so utilizing a formula they created for the purpose of backdating

organic solvent at issue in the case or plaintiff's exact birth defect. *Akzo* might be informative in *Desranleau* if Dr. Pietruszka relied on studies evaluating the doses/effects of other chemicals, and then he made conclusions about toxicity and dose regarding GS based on these other studies. But of course, Dr. Pietruszka does not do any such thing.

when the mold occurred. The experts' opinions were excluded under *Frye*, as there was no general acceptance of the formula the experts created and relied upon to backdate the origination of wood decay. *Lake Chelan* affirmed the exclusion of the experts' opinions. The plaintiff argued that, under *Akzo*, *Frye* was not implicated because the science of wood decay is not new or novel but instead is well known and well established. *Id.* at 180. *Lake Chelan* was quick to reject this overgeneralization, rightly noting that "general acceptance of the science of wood decay is not at issue in this case," but rather it is the expert's efforts to backdate when the wood decay began that was. *Id.* at 180-181.

Desranleau approved the very reasoning Division 1 rejected in Lake Chelan, positioning that Frye is not implicated by Dr. Pietruszka's opinions because it is generally accepted that GS can be toxic and/or is a "known toxin." Desranleau, Slip Opinion at, e.g., 17, 24. Just as in Lake Chelan, such generalized statements are not what is in dispute or the

necessary theory that Dr. Pietruszka's opinions are derived from. Anything can become toxic and can be deemed "a toxin" in sufficient quantities (e.g., oxygen, water, etc.). It is not generally accepted in the field of toxicology that if something is a "known toxin" or is considered "toxic", it means it is lethal in any amount (even amounts that escape detection), and therefore no evaluation need be performed in order to assess: (1) the toxic properties of the chemical, including the levels (even if in approximation) at which toxicity occurs, or (2) whether the chemical's presence can even be detected, or (3) an approximate dose at issue and concentration of dose, or (4) an evaluation of matters such as time, weight, and the doseresponsive relationship. This very reasoning defies the field of forensic toxicology and the analysis performed by toxicologists.

Based on *Desranleau*, if a substance at issue in a case can generally be referred to as "toxic" or "potentially toxic," then an expert can say it can be lethal even when its presence cannot be detected. For example, potassium can be toxic; therefore,

bananas are lethal. Because the record indicates that Jay'Breon consumed a banana prior to his unfortunate passing, an expert, based on *Desranleau's* ruling, can testify to the jury that the banana caused the death as a result of potassium poisoning.

Under this Court's precedent, trial courts served an important gatekeeping function in keeping this kind of "lethal banana" or "junk science" testimony from jurors, but Desranleau opens the flood gates for it.

3. <u>Desranleau</u> Is Inconsistent With State and Federal Authority, Warranting Clarification from this Court On an Issue of Significant Public Interest.

Desranleau's treatment of ER 702 and Frye constitutes an issue of significant public interest that this Court should address. Based on Desranleau, defendants in criminal cases will ultimately be put behind bars and have their freedoms taken away based on "borderline" expert testimony that judges should simply allow in. Desranleau reflects perhaps the clearest example of expert testimony that lacks any foundation and that is not derived from a generally accepted theory or

methodology. It is troubling to think that the kind of testimony offered by Dr. Pietruszka will be welcomed in our courts based on *Desranleau*, ultimately supporting criminal convictions and civil verdicts, profoundly impacting peoples' liberties and property.

Our federal counterparts have recognized the troubling trend reflected by the approach taken in *Desranleau*. Like Washington, federal courts also require the trial court judges to perform a gatekeeping function prior to admitting expert testimony, keeping junk science and *ipse dixit* claims from juries. *See e.g.*, *Sardis v. Overhead Door Corp.*, 10 F.4th 268 (4th Cir. 2021). Our federal counterparts, however, have taken action and rejected the trend of courts relaxing admissibility requirements, favoring admissibility, and generally abdicating the gatekeeping function to juries. The Judicial Conference Committee on Rules of Practice and Procedure's recently approved amendments to the Federal Rule of Evidence ("FRE")

702, which are set to take effect on December 1, 2023. The amendment is intended to clarify Rule 702, not change it.

The amendments to ER 702, reflected by bold (additions) and strike-through (removal), are below:

RULE 702: Testimony by Expert Witnesses:

A witness who is qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education may testify in the form of an opinion or otherwise if the proponent demonstrates to the court that it is more likely than not that:

- (a) the expert's scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will help the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue;
- **(b)** the testimony is based on sufficient facts or data;
- (c) the testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods; and
- (d) the expert has reliably applied expert's opinion reflects a reliable application of the principles and methods to the facts of the case.

The rule has been amended to clarify and emphasize that expert testimony may not be admitted unless the proponent

demonstrates to the court that it is "more likely than not" that the proffered testimony meets the admissibility requirements set forth in the rule. This clarification is consistent with Washington's ER 702 and jurisprudence interpreting it, including *Johnston- Forbes*, which requires trial court judges to scrutinize the expert's underlying information and determine whether it is sufficient to form an opinion on the relevant issue, and "before allowing an expert to render an opinion, the trial court must find that there is an adequate foundation so that an opinion is not mere speculation, conjecture, or misleading." *Johnston- Forbes*, 181 Wn.2d at 357 (emphasis added). The goals are the same.

The second part of the FRE 702 amendment emphasizes that an expert's testimony must not only be the product of reliable principles and methods, but it must also reflect a reliable application of these principles and methods to the facts of the case. The amendment is designed to clarify judges' obligation to act as the gatekeeper to determine the

admissibility of expert witness testimony and to promote uniform decision making among courts as to the admissibility of expert testimony and prevent the admission of "because I said so" expert testimony.

In the wake of the approved amendments to FRE 702, the 4th Circuit in *Sardis* expounded on the pervasive misapplication of rule. *Sardis* involved a product liability claim in which the plaintiff offered two experts, but each expert's opinions were premised on speculative assumptions and lacked factual support. *Sardis*, 10 F.4th at. 277-278. The defendant objected to the admission of the testimony, and the trial court even expressed its own concerns with regard to the experts' foundations. Notwithstanding, the district court denied the motions to exclude the experts and concluded that the reliability concerns for the experts' opinions affects the weight of the evidence, not admissibility. *Id.* at 278.8 The district court

-

⁸ Compare with, Desranleau, Slip Opinion at 25 (an objection that an expert employed the methodology in an improper or unscientific manner goes only to the credibility of the expert's opinion, not the admissibility of the expert's testimony).

opined that the defendant could address its concerns through "[v]igorous cross-examination, presentation of contrary evidence, and careful instruction on the burden of proof." *Id.*

In reversing, the *Sardis* admonished the district court for improperly abdicating its critical gatekeeping role to the jury without engaging in the required ER 702 analysis. *Id.* at 279. In noting that courts have broad discretion when evaluating the admissibility of expert testimony, such discretion does not include the decision to "abandon the gatekeeping function." *Id.* at 282. *Sardis* recognized that the court must provide more than just conclusory statements of admissibility or inadmissibility to show that it adequately performed its gatekeeping function. *Id.* at 283.

Sardis went beyond simply reversing the district court and addressed its broader concerns regarding trial courts' relaxed acceptance of questionable expert testimony. In so doing, Sardis provided the following insight:

We conclude with one final observation. Our insistence on district courts' compliance with Rule 702's plain gatekeeping requirement stems not from an arbitrary adherence to a procedural formality. Rather, because Rule 702 grants experts wide latitude to offer opinions, including those that are not based on firsthand knowledge or observation, expert evidence can be both powerful and quite misleading. As such, the importance of the gatekeeping function cannot be overstated.

That much is confirmed by the Advisory Committee on Evidence Rules' current proposal to amend Rule 702. On April 30, 2021, the Committee unanimously approved a proposal to amend Rule 702, part of which is motivated by its observation that in "a number of federal cases ... judges did not apply the preponderance standard of admissibility to [Rule 702's] requirements of sufficiency of basis and reliable application of principles and methods, instead holding that such issues were ones of weight for the jury." Advisory Comm. on Evidence Rules, Agenda for Committee Meeting 17 (Apr. 30, 2021). In order to address this "pervasive problem," both of the current draft amendments to Rule 702 would contain the following language in the advisory committee's notes:

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