FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/27/2023 2:12 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 1019947

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TANESSA DESRANLEAU, individually and as the Personal Representative of the ESTATE of JAY'BREON DESRANLEAU,

Plaintiff-Respondents,

v.

HYLANDS, INC., STANDARD HOMEPATHIC LABORATORIES, INC., and STANDARD HOMEPATHIC COMPANY, and MICHELLE REID,

Defendants-Petitioner.

## RESPONDENTS' OPPOSITION TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Lincoln C. Beauregard WSBA No. 32878 Connelly Law Offices, PLLC 2301 North 30<sup>th</sup> Street Tacoma, WA 98403 (253) 593-5100 Attorneys for Appellant

##

#### I. INTRODUCTION

This case was wrongfully dismissed, a second time, premised upon arguments that were embodied in, and rejected by, a prior published opinion from this Court in the same case. Desranleau v. Hyland's, Inc., 10 Wash. App. 837, 841-6, 450 P.3d 1203 (2019). Despite a detailed explanation from this Court that this case should proceed to a jury as a battle of the experts, the defense lawyers fooled the trial judge into dismissing this matter on a false premise. Specifically, the defense lawyer lied to the trial judge about the fundamental basis of the plaintiff's The trial judge bought the misleading expert's testimony. arguments hook-line-and-sinker. The Court of Appeals reviewed the file and reversed the trial court based upon basic evidentiary principles: Desranleau v. Hyland's, Inc., 527 P.3d 1160 (April 17, 2023). Nothing about this matter warrants further Supreme Court review. Id.

///

///

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves the poisoning death of a child named Jay'Breon with tainted pills manufactured by the defendant, Hyland's. *Desranleau v. Hyland's, Inc.*, 10 Wash. App. 837, 841-6, 450 P.3d 1203 (2019). In a published opinion, Division 1 already determined that the evidentiary record supports the reasonable inference that Jay'Breon ingested (stratified) Hyland's tablets:

In 2012, the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) informed Hyland's that it was concerned with Hyland's dilution process related to a separate product. The FDA wrote that Hyland's dilution process may lead to batch stratification—where some tablets within a single batch have significantly higher concentrations of an ingredient than others. The FDA recommended a liquid dilution process rather than a dry dilution process. These concerns remained in 2017, when the FDA again informed Hyland's that it was concerned with their manufacturing process. The FDA wrote:

You manufacture drug products ... from ingredients that pose potentially toxic effects. Specifically, Hyland's Baby Teething Tablets and Hyland's Baby Nighttime Teething Tablets contain belladonna<sup>[1]</sup> and are

marketed for vulnerable patient populations, including infants and children. ...

FDA's analysis of samples of your [products] ... found that the alkaloid content far exceeded the claim on your label.... The testing found inconsistency in levels of belladonna, a toxic substance, and reveals that your manufacturing process is poorly controlled and may pose unnecessary risk to infants and children.

Though the FDA's concerns were specifically related to stratification of belladonna in Hyland's teething products, and belladonna is not contained in Hyland's cold medicines, Hyland's admitted that its manufacturing process is substantially similar in all of its products. Therefore, Desranleau alleges that stratification of the alkaloid *Gelsemium sempervirens*, which can be toxic in high doses and is found in Hyland's cold medicines, likely also occurs. The possibility of stratification coupled with the potential for *Gelsemium sempervirens* to be toxic in high doses is what Desranleau alleges caused Jay'Breon's death.

\*\*\*

Even without Reid's statements, it would be reasonable for a jury to infer that Jay'Breon ingested Hyland's cold medicine from the chain of circumstantial evidence. First, Jay'Breon had a cold leading up to his death. Second, an open bottle of Hyland's cold medicine—specifically designed for infants who were experiencing a cold—was recovered from the scene. Third, the police found this medicine in a separate location from the other

household occupant's medications, indicating that it was not their medication. And fourth, the police recovered this medication as evidence from where Jay'Breon was found. There was enough circumstantial evidence in the record, when viewed in the light most favorable to Desranleau, for a jury to find that Jay'Breon ingested Hyland's cold medicine.

id, at 841-6.

A key ingredient contained within Cold Tablets is a plant, Gelesemium Sempervirens, also an alkaloid.<sup>1</sup> At least as early as May of 2012, the FDA warned Hyland's of the dangers associated with Gelesemium Sempervirens, and that products including this ingredient likely suffered the same production deficiencies as the Teething Tablets.<sup>2</sup> The FDA noted that "All parts of Gelesemium Sempervirens (Carolina Jessamine) contain the toxic alkaloids gelsemine and gelseminine. Both human and animal poisoning cases, including deaths, have been reported." A consulting expert with Hyland's noted that infant

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> CP 1770-2: Declaration of Pietruszka, Pages 2-4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> CP 1777-9: Declaration of Pietruszka: Exhibit 1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> CP 1778: Declaration of Pietruszka: Exhibit 1

renal development raises serious Gelsemium Sempervirens ingestion concerns.<sup>4</sup>

The CEO of Hyland's, J.P. Borneman, undertook an individual consultation with an authority in the field of homeopathic medicines, Wilfried Stock, PhD.<sup>5</sup> Dr. Stock is the head of the toxicology and safety committee for the organization which is considered the leading authority regarding the production of homeopathic medicines: the Homeopathic Pharmacopeia Convention of the United States (a.k.a. HPUS).<sup>6</sup> According to Dr. Stock, products containing Gelesemium Sempervirens should not be given to small children in the absence of physician supervision.<sup>7</sup> In a "Risk Calculation" sent directly to CEO Borneman, Dr. Stock referenced other resources indicative that Gelesemium Sempervirens is "No longer considered safe" in any quantity, and should not be given to

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> CP 1770-2: Declaration of Pietruszka: Exhibit 1

<sup>5</sup> Id

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> CP 755-824: Declaration of Beauregard: Exhibit 2 (Deposition of Baier, Page 31)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> CP 1789: Declaration of Pietruszka: Exhibit 3

anyone, for any reason.<sup>8</sup> Vice President Baier indicated that Hyland's disagrees with Dr. Stock, and does not follow his recommendations, in relation to Gelsemium Sempervirens consumption: "I'm not exactly sure of the context of that statement, but Hyland's would not agree that Gelsemium is not a typical drug for small children. We're a hundred year old company – plus and we have a lot of experience with infant formulas. And it's been our experience that Gelsemium is not unsafe for small children."<sup>9</sup>

It is generally accepted in the medical community that Gelsemium ingestion can prove lethal:

#### CONCLUSION

Gelsemium elegans is highly toxic. Although patients may die within 30 min due to its strong respiratory depressive effect, they can survive with timely respiratory support and enjoy gradual improvement without delayed postanoxic encephalopathy.

10

This medical conclusion in the attached literature relies upon thirty-seven (37) other medical studies which reached the same

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> CP 755-824: Declaration of Beauregard: Exhibit 2 (Deposition of Baier, Page 30)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> CP 1789: Declaration of Pietruska: Exhibit 3 pages 48-52

# and/or similar conclusions.<sup>11</sup> The supportive studies are not equivocal:

Fitoterapia. 2015 Jan; 100:35-43. doi: 10.1016/j.fitote.2014.11.002. Epub 2014 Nov 11.

FULL-TEXT ARTICLE

## Gelsemium analgesia and the spinal glycine receptor/allopregnanolone pathway.

Zhang JY1, Wang YX2.

#### Author information

#### Abstract